IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-ICA-83

ICA EFiled: Dec 22 2022 11:16AM EST Transaction ID 68719439

SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC,

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner,

v.

CITY OF WEIRTON and CITY OF WEIRTON BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS,

Defendants Below, Respondents.

OPENING BRIEF OF PETITIONER, SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC

Arising from Order of Court dated August 23, 2022 in Civil Action Nos. CC-05-2021-C-71 & CC-05-2021-P-35, Circuit Court of Brooke County, West Virginia (Honorable Jason A. Cuomo)

> Shawn N. Gallagher WV I.D. No. 12853 <u>shawn.gallagher@bipc.com</u> Kathleen Jones Goldman WV I.D. No. 6917 kathleen.goldman@bipc.com

Buchanan Ingersoll & Rooney LLP

I. ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR

1. The Circuit Court erred by determining that municipal zoning regulations are neither expressly nor impliedly preempted by the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act, W. Va. Code §§ 22-6-1 *et seq.* as amended to address horizontal drilling by W. Va. Code §§ 22-6A-1 *et seq.*, where the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act delegates "sole and exclusive authority" over all aspects of the permitting and location of oil and gas exploration and production activities to the Secretary of the West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection.

II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Introduction

This lawsuit arises from the City of Weirton's ("City") unlawful attempt to regulate, and now effectively ban, lawful natural gas drilling activities within its borders. The City has historically maintained a Unified Development Ordinance, which purports to regulate where and how and natural gas drilling can occur within the City. However, in early 2021, and unbeknownst to SWN, the City worked in a feverish pace to adopt a new ordinance that would effectively ban natural gas drilling within the City's borders completely, only after SWN had alerted the City of its intentions to drill on land it had leased within the City. Nonetheless, despite the City's best efforts, SWN submitted its application to the City prior to the effective date of the new ordinance.

Even though SWN's application complied with all of the then-applicable ordinance requirements, the City of Weirton Board of Zoning Appeals ("Board") denied SWN's Application. In response, SWN filed its Verified Complaint in this case, seeking to enjoin enforcement of both the City's prior and newly updated Unified Development Ordinance because they are preempted by state law with respect to natural gas drilling activities.¹

¹ On October 29, 2021, SWN also filed with the Circuit Court a Petition for Writ of Certiorari ("Petition") seeking review and reversal of the Board's denial, which was consolidated

As a matter of law and contrary to the Circuit Court's August 23, 2022 Order Regarding Pre-Emption in this case ("Decision"), the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act, W. Va. Code §§ 26-6-1, *et seq.*, as amended and supplemented to address horizontal drilling by West Virginia Code §§ 26-6A-1, *et seq.*, expressly preempts all local zoning authority of oil and gas drilling activities. Furthermore, the comprehensive permitting scheme adopted by the legislature demonstrates the state's intent to preempt and occupy the entire field of oil and gas regulation. As such, the City's oil and gas regulations are also preempted under the principles of implied field preemption and conflict preemption.

Accordingly, SWN respectfully requests that this honorable Court reverse the Circuit Court's Decision and hold that the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act preempts municipal zoning regulation of oil and gas exploration and production activities.

B. Statement of Facts

1. SWN's State Permit to Drill for Natural Gas in the City

Hydraulic fracturing, sometimes known as "fracking," has been used to safely stimulate wells and recover oil and natural gas in the United States since the 1940s. (Appendix Record ("App.") at 18, 147). In fact, fracking is used in nearly all oil and gas wells drilled in the United States today. *Id*.

The West Virginia Department of Environmental Protection ("WVDEP") regulates all oil and gas drilling and extraction activities in the State, including fracking and horizontal drilling. (App. 147, 201). On October 18, 2021, SWN applied to WVDEP for permits to drill for and develop natural gas at a well site located on a large vacant parcel in the City ("Brownlee Site").

with the instant matter and which was stayed by the Circuit Court pending resolution of the preemption issues argued herein. (App. 18).

(App. 151).² With its application, SWN provided WVDEP with an array of technical data and information, including a detailed erosion and sediment control plan that met or exceeded the requirements of the West Virginia Erosion and Sediment Control Manual as adopted pursuant to the control program established through Section 208 of the Federal Water Pollution Control Act Amendments of 1972, 33 U.S.C. § 1288. (App. 148, 162-198).

On February 8, 2022, WVDEP issued Well Work Permit No. 47-009-00328-00-00 ("State Permit") for SWN's Brownlee Land Ventures BRK No. 6 Well, which authorizes SWN to begin drilling on the Brownlee Site. (App. 162-198).

2. SWN's Conditional Use Application

Prior to issuance of the State Permit, on June 11, 2021, SWN submitted an application for a conditional use permit ("Application") to the City in order to obtain local zoning approval for the Brownlee Site pursuant to the terms of the City's then existing Unified Development Ordinance ("Original UDO"). (App. 152, 204). Despite state preemption of the Original UDO, SWN submitted the Application because it desired to be a good corporate neighbor and engage in a positive working relationship with the City moving forward. (App. 148).

The Original UDO contained only two objective standards relating to conditional uses for oil and gas extraction activities, as follows:

- a. No well may be located closer than two hundred (200) feet to any residential use.
- b. All oil and gas exploration shall be subject to the Oil and Gas Laws, Chapter Twenty-two, Article Four, of the Code of West Virginia, as amended, and the rules and regulations of the West Virginia Department of Environment Protection.

² SWN is the lessee of record for the Brownlee Site totaling 301.83 acres in the City, which is located off of Park Drive on property owned by Brownlee Land Ventures L.P., Tax Parcel Identification Number 05-06-00W3-0004-0000. Pursuant to the lease, SWN has the right to drill and operate for and produce oil and natural gas from the Brownlee Site. (App. 88).

See Original UDO § 9.6(24); (App. 152).

On August 3, 2021 and September 7, 2021, the Board held hearings to consider SWN's conditional use Application. (App. 152, 205). SWN presented its case through a series of professional engineers, noise and traffic experts. *Id.* In support of its Application, SWN also submitted more than 240 pages of technical studies and reports, which demonstrated that the Brownlee Site would not be detrimental to the health, safety or welfare of City residents. *Id.*

Even though SWN submitted each and every application item required by the Original UDO, the City complained at length that SWN should not be permitted to introduce additional evidence to support its Application at the hearings. (App. 152). During the hearings, the City repeatedly violated SWN's due process rights by refusing to allow SWN the opportunity provide rebuttal testimony to the lay opposition testimony provided by the City. (App. 153). Despite SWN's submission of a complete application and its compliance with the objective requirements of the Original UDO, the Board voted to deny SWN's application at the conclusion of the hearings on September 7, 2021. (App. 153, 205).

The Board further issued a written decision supporting its denial on October 1, 2021. Among its reasons for denial, the Board found that "SWN has failed to prove that the requested conditional use will not be adverse in any respect to the public health, safety and welfare." *Id.* As set forth below, the Board's conclusions directly conflict with WVDEP's issuance of the State Permit, and consequently, its actions are preempted by State law.

3. The New Unified Development Ordinance

Prior to submitting the Application, SWN had approached the City earlier in 2021 to discuss the City's permitting process for oil and gas development. (App. 153, 206). After the City

became aware of SWN's plans, unbeknownst to SWN, the City worked to adopt a new ordinance that would effectively ban natural gas drilling within the City's borders. *Id*.

On June 7, 2021, the City voted to enact a new Unified Development Ordinance ("New UDO") to become effective on July 7, 2021. *Id.* The New UDO purports to place a new 2,500 foot setback requirement on all drilling activities from residential, church or school uses. This setback requirement in the New UDO is a 1,250% percent increase from the 200 foot setback requirement contained in the Original UDO. *Id.* In addition, the New UDO rezoned the Brownlee Site and removed oil and gas extraction as a permitted conditional use from the zoning district where the Brownlee Site is located.³ (App. 153-54, 206). The New UDO's map amendment and setback requirements effectively ban natural gas drilling within the City limits because there are no areas located within the City where these requirements can be satisfied.

Despite the City's best efforts to rush passage of the new UDO, SWN submitted its Application to the City prior to the effective date of the New UDO. (App. 154, 206). However, as described above, the Board nevertheless unlawfully denied SWN's Application. (App. 153, 205). Today, if SWN were to submit a new application, oil and gas production on the Brownlee Site would no longer be permitted as a conditional use under the New UDO. (App. 154, 206). This is precisely the type of local interference with oil and gas development that the West Virginia Legislature sought to prevent when it delegated all oil and gas regulatory functions to WVDEP.

³ Under the Original UDO, the Brownlee Site was located in the City's PDD – Planned Development District, where "Oil/Gas Extraction" uses were permitted by conditional use. Under the New UDO, the Brownlee Site was rezoned to the FB – Flex Business District, where "Oil/Gas Extraction" uses are now not permitted at all. (App. 154, 206).

C. Procedural Background

On October 29, 2021, after the Board denied SWN's Application, SWN filed the Verified Complaint in the instant matter, docketed at Brooke County Civil Action No. CC-05-2021-C-71, which seeks: (1) a declaration from this Court that by the Original UDO and New UDO are preempted by state law; and (2) an injunction enjoining the City from enforcing, either directly or indirectly, either the Original UDO or the New UDO with respect to oil and gas exploration activities ("Preemption Action"). (App. 18-30). On the same date, SWN also filed the Petition, docketed at Brooke County Civil Action No. CC-05-2021-P-35, in order to preserve its right to appeal Board's denial of the Application ("Defensive Appeal"). (App. 18).

On March 14, 2022, upon a Motion by the City, the Circuit Court entered an Order transferring and consolidating the Preemption Action with the Defensive Appeal. (App. 142-146). The Court further ordered that the issues originally presented in the Defensive Appeal be stayed until such time as the Court makes a final determination on the state preemption issues raised in the Preemption Action. *Id.*

On March 29, 2022, after seeking and obtaining permission from the Court, SWN filed its First Amended Verified Complaint, which amended the Verified Complaint to include a copy of the SWN's State Permit for the Brownlee Site. (App. 147-199). On April 18, 2022, the City filed its Answer to the First Amended Verified Complaint. (App. 200-214). On August 23, 2022, after considering the parties' briefs on the matter, the Circuit Court issued its Decision holding that the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act does not preempt municipal zoning regulation of oil and gas exploration and production activities. (App. 1-17).⁴

⁴ The Circuit Court's Decision stated that "[t]his Court considers this to be a final appealable order." (App. 17).

On September 7, 2022, SWN filed the instant Notice of Appeal with this Court seeking to overturn the Circuit Court's Decision. On September 14, 2022, SWN filed a Motion for Direct Review of the Decision to the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, which was refused on October 25, 2022.

III. SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Neither the Constitution of West Virginia nor the Legislature have conferred or delegated any oil and gas regulatory or environmental protection functions upon or to any West Virginia municipalities. Rather, all oil and gas regulatory and environmental protection programs in West Virginia - including those relating to the siting and location horizontal drilling and fracking operations - are regulated by WVDEP. In such instances, where the Legislature has comprehensively regulated an entire industry, the West Virginia Constitution requires that conflicting municipal regulations be declared invalid and void. Here, the City's ordinances are in direct conflict with the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act because they purport to prohibit exactly what the state law permits – oil and gas drilling activities on the Brownlee Site. Therefore, the City's ordinances should be declared invalid to the extent they attempt to regulate the exploration and production of oil and natural gas.

IV. STATEMENT REGARDING ORAL ARGUMENT AND DECISION

Pursuant to the criteria set forth in Rule 18(a) of the West Virginia Rules of Appellate Procedure, SWN respectfully submits that oral argument is appropriate in this case under Rule 20 of the Rules of Appellate Procedure. The issues raised in this case are suitable for oral argument under all of the criteria set forth in Rule 20(a). The issue of whether local zoning regulations are preempted by the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act: (1) is an issue of first impression; (2) is an issue of fundamental public importance; (3) involves constitutional questions regarding the validity of a municipal ordinance; and (4) involves inconsistencies or conflicts among the decisions of lower tribunals. *See* W.Va. R. App. P. 20(a).

V. ARGUMENT

A. Standard of Review

"Where the issue on an appeal from the circuit court is clearly a question of law or involving an interpretation of a statute, [the appellate court] appl[ies] a *de novo* standard of review." Syl. Pt. 1, *Chrystal R.M. v. Charlie A.L.*, 194 W.Va. 138, 139, 459 S.E.2d 415, 416 (1995). When reviewing a lower court's decision under a *de novo* standard, no deference is afforded to the lower court's ruling. As stated by the West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals, "[w]hen employing the *de novo* standard of review, we review anew the findings and conclusions of the circuit court, affording no deference to the lower court's ruling." *Blake v. Charleston Area Med. Ctr., Inc.*, 201 W.Va. 469, 475, 498 S.E.2d 41, 47 (1997) *citing West Virginia Div. of Envtl. Protection v. Kingwood Coal Co.*, 200 W.Va. 734, 745, 490 S.E.2d 823, 834 (1997).

B. Legal Framework for Preemption in West Virginia

In West Virginia, municipalities are creations of the state, and thus derive all of their powers, both explicit and inherent, from the state. "A municipal corporation is a creature of the State, and can only perform such functions of government as may have been conferred by the constitution, or delegated to it by the law-making authority of the State. It has no inherent powers, and only such implied powers as are necessary to carry into effect those expressly granted." Syl. pt. 1, *Toler v. City of Huntington*, 168 S.E.2d 551 (W. Va. 1969) (citing Syl. pt. 1, *Brockman's, Inc. v. City of Huntington*, 27 S.E.2d 71 (W. Va. 1943)). "Attached to every statute, every charter, every ordinance or resolution affecting, or adopted by, a municipality, is the implied condition that the same must yield to the predominant power of the State, when that power has been exercised.

To hold otherwise would lead to serious confusion, and at times absurd results." Syl. Pt. 4, *Delardas* v. *Morgantown Water Comm'n*, 137 S.E.2d 426 (W. Va. 1964).

When a conflict arises between a local ordinance and a state statute, the state statute will always prevail. "That municipal ordinances are inferior to in status and subordinate to legislative acts is a principle so fundamental that citation of authorities is unnecessary. Equally fundamental is the legal principle that where an ordinance is in conflict with a state law the former is invalid." *American Tower Corp.* v. *Common Council of the City of Beckley,* 557 S.E.2d 752, 756 (W. Va. 2001) (citing *Vector Co.* v. *Board of Zoning Appeals,* 184 S.E.2d 301, 304 (W. Va. 1971)). In fact, pursuant to the West Virginia Constitution, any municipal ordinance or charter "shall be *invalid and void if inconsistent or in conflict with* this Constitution or the *general laws of the State* then in effect, or thereafter, from time to time enacted." W. Va. Const, art. 6, §39(a) (emphasis added).

In his preeminent treatise on municipal government, Eugene McQuillan succinctly explained the relationship between the laws and regulations passed by various levels of government, including municipalities and state legislatures:

It is fundamental that *municipal ordinances are inferior in status and subordinate to the laws of the state.* The purpose of the preemption doctrine is to establish a priority between potentially conflicting laws enacted by various levels of government. Consistently, it is a general rule, sometimes expressly enunciated by the state constitution, statutes, or city charters, that ordinances regulating subjects, matters, and things on which there is a general law of the state must be in harmony with that state law, and *in any conflict between an ordinance and a statute the latter must prevail*, unless under the statutes or law of the state the ordinance plainly and specifically is given predominance in a particular instance or as to a particular subject matter. Fundamental to the doctrine of preemption is the understanding that *local governments lack the authority to craft their own exceptions to general state laws*.

E. McQuillin, *The Law of Municipal Corporations* § 15:18 (Clark, Boardman, Callaghan, 3d ed. 1986) (emphasis added; internal citations omitted). Furthermore, key to any analysis of

preemption is the fundamental principle, "that which is allowed by the general laws of the state cannot be prohibited by ordinance, without express grant on the part of the state." *Id.* The West Virginia Supreme Court of Appeals has agreed, holding that, "where both the State and a municipality enact legislation on the same subject matter, it is generally held that if there are inconsistencies, the municipal ordinance must yield." *Davidson v. Shoney's Big Boy Restaurant*,

181 W.Va. 65 at 68, 380 S.E.2d 232 at 235 (1989).

In determining whether an ordinance is preempted by state law, courts must look not only

at the express language of the particular law, but also to the legislative purpose behind the law:

[T]he fact that a local ordinance does not expressly conflict with the statute will not save it when the legislative purpose in enacting the statute is frustrated by the ordinance. Similarly, an intent by the state to preempt an entire field of legislation need not be expressly declared. Preemption may be implied from the nature of the subject matter being regulated and the purpose and scope of the state statutory scheme.

McQuillin, supra. Thus, "[w]hen the general law of the state has dealt comprehensively with the subject-matter of a municipal ordinance, the general law is dominant and controlling and the ordinance is invalid and unenforceable, in the absence of specific authority therefore conferred by the Legislature." Syl. Pt. 2, *State* v. *Robinson*, 104 S.E. 473 (W. Va. 1920).

C. The West Virginia Oil and Gas Act Preempts Local Zoning Regulation of Oil and Gas Development

The Circuit Court erred when it held in its Decision that "the West Virginia Legislature, by virtue of its enactment of the [West Virginia Oil and Gas Act] neither expressly nor impliedly [sic] sought to preempt authority vested in local authorities...from enacting lawful...zoning ordinances/regulations which may affect where companies who seek to conduct oil and gas operations and production place their facilities or conduct their business within municipal limits." (App. 13.). As set forth below, the Circuit Court's holding directly contradicts the express

language of the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act, as well as the principles of field preemption and conflict preemption.

1. The West Virginia Oil and Gas Act Expressly Preempts The City's Ordinances Because The WVDEP Has Sole And Exclusive Authority To Regulate The Location And Permitting of Oil And Gas Wells In The State

In its Decision, the Circuit Court incorrectly stated that, "[i]n support of its pre-emption

argument, SWN cites no specific preemption language within Chapter 22, Article 6 or 6A." (App.

10). But, contrary to the Circuit Court's assertion, SWN did in fact cite to a specific provision of

the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act that expressly preempts local zoning authority to determine the

location of oil and gas wells. (App. 261-262). Specifically, Section 22-6A-6(b) of the West

Virginia Oil and Gas Act provides that:

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