#### IN THE INTERMEDIATE COURT OF APPEALS OF WEST VIRGINIA

No. 22-ICA-83

ICA EFiled: Feb 06 2023

02:15PM EST

Transaction-ID-69081835

#### SWN PRODUCTION COMPANY, LLC,

Plaintiff Below, Petitioner,

v.

# CITY OF WEIRTON and CITY OF WEIRTON BOARD OF ZONING APPEALS,

Defendants Below, Respondents.

#### RESPONSE BRIEF OF RESPONDENT CITY OF WEIRTON

Arising from the Order of the Court dated August 23, 2022 in Civil Action Nos. CC-05-2021-C-71 & CC-05-2021-P-35, Circuit Court of Brooke County, West Virginia (Honorable Jason A. Cuomo)

Ryan P. Simonton (WVSB #11152)
rsimonton@kaycaston.com
Margaret E. Lewis (WVSB #10329)
mlewis@kaycasto.com
KAY CASTO & CHANEY, PLLC

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

*Id.* (cmphasis added). The Colorado Supreme Court in *Bowen/Edwards* found that statewide regulatory permitting and local zoning serve different purposes, and in general they coexist.<sup>17</sup>

Other Colorado decisions follow the same rationale. In *Voss v. Lundvall Brothers*, the Colorado Supreme Court held,

If a home-rule city, instead of imposing a total ban on all drilling within the city, enacts land-use regulations applicable to various aspects of oil and gas development and operations within the city, and if such regulations do not frustrate and can be harmonized with the development and production of oil and gas in a manner consistent with the stated goals of the Oil and Gas Conservation Act, the city's regulations should be given effect. We thus do not conclude, as did the court of appeals, that there is no room whatever for local land-use control over those areas of a home-rule city where drilling for oil, gas, or hydrocarbon wells is about to take place.

830 P.2d 1061, 1068–69 (Colo. 1992). In *Town of Frederick v. N. Amer. Resources Co.*, the Colorado Court of Appeals held that while the state oil and gas act may preempt technical regulation of drilling, other zoning ordinance provisions were not preempted. 60 P.3d 758, 763 (Colo. App. 2002).<sup>18</sup>

These decisions recognize the "vital importance" of zoning to local communities, and they respect that zoning decisions are "a problem peculiarly within the power of the legislative body of a municipality" that "involve[] a high degree of legislative discretion and an acute knowledge of existing conditions and circumstances." *W. Va. Code* § 8A-1-1(a)(1); *Par Mar v. City of Parkersburg*, 183 W. Va. 706, 711, 398 S.E.2d 532, 537 (1990) (*quoting City of Miami Beach v.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> As to the factual claims of a specific conflict between application of zoning regulation to a particular permitted site, the Court held: "Any determination that there exists an operational conflict between the county regulations and the state statute or regulatory scheme, however, must be resolved on an ad-hoc basis under a fully developed evidentiary record. Due to the trial court's dismissal of the complaint on the pleadings, such a record is not before us in this case." *Id.* 

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> The opinion states, "As discussed below, certain provisions of the Town's ordinance do regulate technical aspects of drilling and related activities and thus could not be enforced. However, other provisions of the ordinance, such as those governing access roads and fire protection plans, do not purport to regulate technical aspects of oil and gas operations, even though they may give rise to operational conflicts with a state regulation addressing the same subject and thus be preempted for that reason."

Wiesen, 86 So.2d 442 (Fla.1956) (en banc)). They are consistent with our state law and with decisions throughout the country, which find that local zoning is compatible with state regulation of oil and gas. These holdings consistently and thoroughly express the same principle espoused by our Supreme Court in Longwell v. Hodge – local zoning serves purposes distinct from state permitting systems.

Petitioner fails to meet its burden to pinpoint any intention in W. Va. Code §§ 22-6A-6 or -8 to preempt all local zoning regulation of oil and gas uses, and it cites no authority for the proposition that it has done so. The Circuit Court properly found that "under Longwell the mere existence of a comprehensive state permitting system for a licensed activity is not sufficient to preempt local zoning regulations." (App. 12).

### 3. Petitioner's Claim that Zoning Conflicts with a State Permit is a Classic False Conflict.

Because no express preemption language is found in the Oil and Gas Act or the Horizontal Well Control Act, and no legislative intent for either act to preempt the field of zoning regulation can be pinpointed, Petitioner also contends that Respondent's zoning laws, and all zoning laws, are in direct conflict with both the Oil and Gas Act and the Horizontal Well Control Act. (Pet. Br. At 16-17). In doing so, Petitioner claims an authority for the DEP secretary that exists nowhere in statute, arguing that there is a "fundamental conflict between the West Virginia Oil and Gas Act and all local zoning laws, each of which purport to vest final approval of well locations in a body other than WVDEP." (Pet. Br. At 17). Petitioner does not cite any provision of *W. Va. Code* §§ 22-6-1 *et seq.* or 22-6A-1 *et seq.* for its claim that DEP has "final" approval over all well locations, and none exists.

The alleged conflict between the authority expressly delegated to Respondent under the Land Use Planning Act and the authority delegated to the Secretary of WVDEP under the Horizontal Well Control Act is a false conflict – general zoning does not encroach on environmental regulation. See Longwell v. Hodge, 171 W. Va. 45, 297 S.E.2d 820 (1982). Petitioner relies on Brackman's, Inc. v. City of Huntington, a case of two specifically conflicting business licensing regulations, but fails to address Longwell v. Hodge, where the Supreme Court noted that zoning regulations do not conflict with a state permit issued for a particular location, and W. Va. Code § 8A-7-10(e), where the legislature addressed application of zoning laws to natural resource production.

In *Brackman's*, both the State and the city claimed authority to issue business licenses for nonintoxicating beer sales. 126 W. Va. 21, 27 S.E.2d 71 (1943). The city's claim to authority was based on the nonintoxicating beer act that gave the State Tax Commissioner licensing power, or its general charter authority—no zoning or other general police power was involved. The Court held: "We hold, therefore, that the power to grant licenses for the sale of non-intoxicating beer is the sole prerogative of the State Tax Commissioner; that when a license for such purpose is so granted, a municipality may not interfere with the exercise of the privilege vested in the licensee thereunder, by refusing to grant a license or permit therefor; that the power of the City of Huntington goes no farther than to levy a license tax on the privilege granted by the State, and to adopt and enforce such ordinances and resolutions as it may deem advisable for the enforcement of the statute under which the State has acted, and in conformity therewith. Of course it also has the power to enact such ordinances respecting the orderly conduct of the business as might be applied to any other character of business requiring local police regulations, being carried on in the city." *Id.* At 126 W. Va. \_\_\_\_\_, 27 S.E.2d 78-79. West Virginia law is clear that cities may not

entirely prohibit activities that are permitted by the state. *Brackmans, Inc. v. City of Huntington*, 126 W. Va. 21, 27 S.E.2d 71 (1943) (city may not deny license to sell beer when state has granted license). It is just as clear that "possession of a state permit will not preclude all local regulation touching on the licensed activity].]" *EQT Production Company v. Wender*, 870 F.3d 322 (4<sup>th</sup> Cir. 2017) (citing *Alderson v. City of Huntington*, 132 W. Va. 421, 428, 52 S.E.2d 243, 247 (1949)).

The zoning regulations at issue make no attempt to regulate the operation of oil and gas wells governed by Chapter 22, Article 6. Consistent with *Brackman's*, but directly addressing the question whether local zoning authority conflicts with state licensing authority, the Supreme Court in *Longwell v. Hodge* held that a state licensee must still comply with local zoning regulations, as do other businesses. The license holders in *Longwell* made the same argument that SWN makes in this case, claiming "that the State's approval of their application for a beer license is effectively overruled by the Board of Zoning Appeals' denial of permission to the appellants to sell beer at this restaurant." *Id.* at 171 W. Va. 49, 297 S.E.2d 824.

The Court considered this argument and found that the allegation was a "false conflict." reasoning:

"What we have here is the perfect example of a "false conflict." The State, by licensing the sale of beer, neither acquires, nor seeks to acquire, any positive interest in the operation of taverns or restaurants selling beer at particular locations within municipalities. Rather, the State's interest is defensive, to assure that beer is not sold by an "unsuitable person" or in an "unsuitable place." See, W. Va. Code, 11–16–12 [1972]. Thus, to the extent that a municipality is not seeking to encroach on the licensing or taxing authority the State holds unto itself, the municipality may zone either to allow or not allow beer-selling restaurants just as it may zone other land uses."

*Id.* (emphasis added).

The Alcohol Beverage Control commissioner is granted the same type of duties with respect to alcohol licensing, with similar exceptions related to the jurisdiction of other state

agencies, under current law as Petitioner relies on to claim the DEP Secretary has sole authority for zoning regulations applicable to oil and gas development. *See W. Va. Code* § 11-16-4(a). As shown in *Longwell*, that sole responsibility included issuing permits for operation of bars at specific locations. And that sole permitting authority did not conflict with the parallel authority for local zoning ordinances.

Petitioner argues on appeal that the Commissioner's interest in alcohol distribution is merely "defensive" and cannot be compared to regulation of oil and gas. (Pet. Br. At 24). While the state regulation system, and the public interest, for alcohol and nonintoxicating beer is much more complex than that<sup>20</sup>, the issue of whether the state interest in environmental regulation of oil and gas resources is distinct from communities' interest in orderly land development is thoroughly addressed by the cases reviewed in Section C.2., *supra*. As the Circuit Court put it. "While the governmental interests involved in oil and gas development and in land-use control at times may overlap, the core interests in these legitimate governmental functions are quite distinct." (App. 12) (quoting Bowen/Edwards Assocs., Inc., 830 P.2d 1045 (Colo. 1992).

In *Longwell*, the Court distinguished between the purposes of a state licensing regime and a local zoning ordinance. Where the laws at issue served different purposes, the local zoning

\_

This Section provides, "The alcohol beverage control commissioner described under the provisions of article two, chapter sixty of this code shall have sole responsibility for the administration of this article, except for those responsibilities expressly vested in the tax commissioner under sections thirteen, fourteen and fifteen of this article."

<sup>20</sup> See W. Va. Code § 60-1-1 ("The purpose of this chapter is to give effect to the mandate of the people expressed in the repeal of the state prohibition amendment; and it is hereby found by the Legislature and declared to be the public policy of this state to regulate and control the manufacture, sale, distribution, transportation, storage and consumption of alcoholic liquors and at the same time to assure the greatest degree of personal freedom consistent with the health, safety, welfare, peace and good morals of the people of this state."): W. Va. Code § 11-16-1 ("It is hereby found by the Legislature and declared to be the policy of this state that it is in the public interest to regulate and control the manufacture, sale, distribution, transportation, storage, and consumption of the beverages regulated by this article within this state and that, therefore, the provisions of this article are a necessary, proper, and valid exercise of the police powers of this state and are intended for the protection of the public safety, welfare, health, peace and morals and are further intended to climinate, or to minimize to the extent practicable, the evils attendant to the unregulated, unlicensed, and unlawful manufacture, sale, distribution, transportation, storage, and consumption of such beverages and are further intended to promote temperance in the use and consumption thereof.").

"Although the risks of briefly summarizing a large body of law are great, one can safely conclude that, by and large, municipal zoning regulations interfering with state regulation in other areas will be upheld to the extent that the interference is the coincidental by-product of the municipal zoning board's legitimate pursuit of its delegated goals. Or, to put it another way, that the conflict between state and municipality is 'false.' *See generally, Rathkopf, Law of Zoning and Planning.* 4th ed., Vol. 2, Chap. 31 (1977); Annot., 9 A.L.R.2d 877 (1950)." *Id.* at 171 W. Va. at 50, 297 S.E.2d 825 (emphasis added). Under *Longwell*, the existence of a comprehensive state permitting system for a licensed activity is not sufficient to preempt local zoning regulations.

### D. Local Governments Have Express Authority to Apply General Zoning Laws to Oil and Gas Activities.

Petitioner adds a section to the Opening Brief arguing that the Land Use Planning Act does not "preclude preemption." (Pet. Br. At 18). The argument misstates the law applied to preemption claims. Preemption of laws is disfavored, and duly-enacted zoning laws are entitled to every presumption in favor of their validity. Syl. Pt. 3, *G-M Realty, Inc. v. Wheeling*, 146 W. Va. 360, 120 S.E.2d 249 (1961). The Land Use Planning Act provides specific authority for Respondent to enact zoning laws, and Petitioner must meet its burden to show they are expressly preempted by some superior law. As fully addressed in Section V.C.1., *supra*, Petitioner relies on *W. Va. Code* § 22-6A-6 to prove express preemption, but no language within that statute section expressly preempts zoning laws enacted under the Land Use Planning Act.

In addition to Supreme Court precedent, the legislative text that is on point states that zoning law applies to development of natural resources like Petitioner's proposed oil and gas production. *W. Va. Code* § 8A-7-10(e). Section 8A-7-10(e) provides, in relevant part, "Nothing

in this chapter authorizes an ordinance, rule or regulation preventing or limiting, outside of municipalities or urban areas, the complete use (i) of natural resources by the owner[.]" Id. Petitioner attempts to avoid application of W. Va. Code § 8A-7-10(e) to its claims, arguing, "However, the Land Use Planning Act does not define 'natural resources' and makes no reference to oil and gas extraction specifically. Nor does it define what constitutes 'complete use' or an 'urban area.''' (Pet. Br. At 22). These definitional quibbles are easy to resolve, and the terms apply to Petitioner's planned operation. Natural resources include oil and gas, and production of oil and gas includes "drilling [and] well-stimulation[.]" W. Va. Code § 11-15-2(b)(14)(B); see Mt. State Bit Service, Inc. v. State, Dept. of Tax and Revenue, 217 W. Va. 141, 617 S.E.2d 491 (2005). Municipality "is a word of art and shall mean and include any Class I, Class II, and Class III city, and any Class IV town or village, heretofore or hereafter incorporated as a municipal corporation under the laws of this state" including the Respondent, City of Weirton. W. Va. Code § 8-1-2(a)(1). There is no need to define urban area, because the law Petitioner seeks to preempt is within a municipality, and there is likewise no need to define "complete use" because within a municipality zoning regulations are permitted to limit the complete use of natural resources. W. Va. Code § 8A-7-10(e). The challenged laws operate within a municipality and apply to natural resources. Under W. Va. Code § 8A-7-10(e), they are permitted to limit the complete use of the natural resources.

# E. There is No Conflict Between the Oil and Gas Act or the Horizontal Well Control Act and All Local Zoning Laws.

As with its express preemption claim re-argued in Section V.D., *supra*. Petitioner adds a section arguing that there is a conflict between zoning laws and the Oil and Gas Act and Horizontal Well Control Act that is not a "false conflict" as determined in *Longwell v. Hodge*. (Pet. Br. At 23). Petitioner's conflict claim is the same as its preemption claim already addressed in Section

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